
 

 
1720 Riverview Drive 

Kalamazoo, Michigan 49004 
Tele: (269) 381-8080 
Fax: (269) 381-3550 

www.ktwp.org 

   

 

 

Board of Trustees Regular Meeting Agenda 

For April 26, 2021 
 

The “Regular Meeting” of the Board of Trustees of the Charter Township of Kalamazoo will be held at 7:30 
p.m., on Monday, April 26, 2021, via Zoom conferencing for the purpose of discussing and acting on the below 
listed items and any other business that may legally come before the Board of Trustees of the Charter Town-
ship of Kalamazoo.  
 

Join Zoom Meeting: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/87366187138?pwd=VE1VeGNBYXBtRTNSTm9WbHhuZWdlQT09 

Meeting ID: 873 6618 7138 Passcode: 583466 
Dial by your location +1 312 626 6799 US (Chicago) 

Meeting ID: 873 6618 7138 Passcode: 583466 
Find your local number: https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kbwopEESpR  

 

1 – Call to Order 

2 – Pledge of Allegiance  

3 – Roll Call of Board Members 

4 – Addition/Deletions to Agenda (Any member of the public, board, or staff may ask that any item on the 
consent agenda be removed and placed elsewhere on the agenda for full discussion. Such requests 
will be automatically respected.) 

5 – Public Comment on Agenda and Non-agenda Items (Each person may use three (3) minutes for 
remarks. If your remarks extend beyond the 3 minute time period, please provide your comments in 
writing and they will be distributed to the board. The public comment period is for the Board to listen to 
your comments. Please begin your comments with your name and address.) 

6 – Consent Agenda (The purpose of the Consent Agenda is to expedite business by grouping non- 
controversial items together to be dealt with in one Board Motion without discussion.) 

 Approval of: 

A. Minutes of April 12, 2021 Board of Trustees Special Work Session Meeting 
B. Minutes of the April 12, 2021 Board of Trustees Regular Meeting 
C. Payment of Bills in the amount of  $112,604.65 

 Receipt of:  

A. Household Participation in Kalamazoo Township’s Bulk Trash Collection Report 
B. Kalamazoo Township Fire Department Fire Report – March 2021 
C. Kalamazoo Township Summary of Incidents Report – March 2021 

  

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/87366187138?pwd=VE1VeGNBYXBtRTNSTm9WbHhuZWdlQT09
https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kbwopEESpR


7 – Public Hearing/Presentation 

A.  OPEB Actuarial Valuation Report Presentation by Chris Veenstra from Watkins Ross  

8 – Old Business 

 

 

 

9 – New Business  

A. Request to approve service contract with Taplin Group, LLC. for CCTV of Township Sewer.  

B. Request to adopt rezoning Ordinance No. 628. 

C. Request to purchase Self-Contained Breathing Apparatus.  

10 – Items removed from Consent Agenda 

 

 

 

11 – Board Member Reports 

Trustee Leuty 

Trustee Glass 

Trustee Moaiery 

Trustee Robinson 

Clerk Miller 

Treasurer Miller 

Supervisor Martin 

12 – Attorney Report 

13 – Manager Report 

14 – Public Comments 

15 – Adjournment 

 

Posted April 21, 2021 

 
Kalamazoo Township Board meetings are open to all without regard to race, color, national origin, sex, or disability.  Individuals with disabilities requiring 

special assistance must contact the Township, giving five business days’ notice by writing or calling: Donald Martin, Charter Township of Kalamazoo 
Supervisor, 1720 Riverview Drive, Kalamazoo, MI  49004-1099. Telephone:  (269) 381-8085  



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF KALAMAZOO 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES – WORK SESSION  

Monday, April 12, 2021 
                                 
The Board of Trustees of the Charter Township of Kalamazoo held a Work Session on 
Monday, April 12, 2021 at 5:30 p.m. for the purpose of discussing Work Session Agenda 
items, and any other business that may legally come before the Board of Trustees of the 

Charter Township of Kalamazoo, Kalamazoo County. Members accessed the meeting 
remotely using Zoom, due to the COVID-19 epidemic. 
 
PRESENT: Supervisor Donald Martin, Clerk Mark Miller, Treasurer Sherine Miller, Trustees 

Ashley Glass, Steven Leuty, Lisa Moiaery and Clara Robinson. 
ABSENT: None. 
ALSO PRESENT:  Manager Dexter Mitchell, Attorney Roxanne Seeber 
 
Supervisor Martin called the meeting to order at 5:32 p.m.  
 
Item 1 – DISCUSSION REGARDING AMERICAN RECOVERY ACT  
Manager Mitchell shared the list of responses for ideas to use the ARA money, this is 
brainstorming, and we will continue to get information about what items we are able to spend 
the money on. Treasurer Miller pointed out that villages had not been allocated, and our amount 
might not be final.  
 
Nancy Desai said there is not a lot of guidance yet about what we can spend it on, our type of 
government it is allocated based on population. It is available over two years. Amount is capped 
at 75% of our annual budget. Some allowable uses are payments to businesses, provide 
government services to the extent of revenue lost (e.g. passport and fingerprint money, or loss 
of state shared revenues), make necessary investments to water, sewer or broadband 
infrastructure. Can it be used for sidewalks and roads? Answer will come to this. 
 
Trustee Glass asked if we have planned to ask for community suggestions as to use? Trustee 
Robinson pointed out we do not have crucial information we need.  
 
The idea of a citizen survey was discussed. Priorities will have changed due to COVID. 
Treasurer Miller asked what was spent on the last survey, and whether our municipal partners 
would be interested in cost-sharing again? Trustee Leuty thought it was less than $20,000. He 
cautioned that results during COVID time might not be the same as long-term. 
 
Item 2 – DISCUSSION REGARDING COVID AND REOPENING OF TOWNSHIP HALL 
Manager Mitchell said the COVID numbers are still climbing in Michigan. We will open the far 
door in two weeks. The order: those able will work from home is still in effect. Supervisor Martin 
has studied the trends and we still should be concerned.  
 
Item 3 – MANAGER’S UPDATE 
We were able to look at grant opportunity through Rep. Upton’s office, but were unable to get 
the Bus. 131 project since it was not on the MDOT list. We have sent letter of support for 
replacing more lead lines in Kalamazoo Township by the City. Nichols Road speed limit: still 
seeking a way to reconsider that. 
 
Chief Ergang discussed with KDPS and Portage a 24/7 social service wrap-around project. All 
ten agencies wrote letters of support.  
 
  



KALAMAZOO TOWNSHIP BOARD – WORK SESSION March 8,2021   Page 2 of 2 
 

Item 4 – DISCUSSION REGARDING ITEMS ON THE REGULAR AGENDA 
There was discussion about the proposal to perform maintenance on parking lots, and where to 
expend those monies from.  
 
Item 5 – PUBLIC COMMENT 
None. 
 
Adjourned 6:26 p.m. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
____________________ 
Mark E. Miller, Clerk, Charter Township of Kalamazoo 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF KALAMAZOO - BOARD OF TRUSTEES – April 12, 2021 - Page 1 of 5  

 

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF KALAMAZOO 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES MEETING 

APRIL 12, 2021 
 

The regular meeting of the Board of Trustees of the Charter Township of Kalamazoo, 
Kalamazoo County, was held at 7:30 p.m., Monday, April 12, 2021. Members accessed 
the meeting remotely using Zoom, due to the COVID-19 epidemic. 

 
Item 1  CALL TO ORDER                                                                                                                 
Supervisor Martin called the meeting to order at 7:30 pm. 

 
Item 2  PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
Manager Mitchell led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 
Item 3  ROLL CALL OF BOARD MEMBERS.  
All present. 
 
Item 4  ADDITIONS AND DELETIONS TO AGENDA 
During public discussion, Treasurer Miller moved, seconded by Trustee Robinson to 
remove payment of the bills from the Consent Agenda. It will be removed. 
 
Item 5  PUBLIC COMMENT ON AGENDA AND NON-AGENDA ITEMS 
Jim Ferner questioned Consumers Energy and Attorney’s Bills. He will contact the Clerk 
for further clarification. 
 
Ronald Huster questioned why the Republic contract was not on the agenda. Supervisor 
Martin responded that it was. 
 
M Pence asked for the $103,000 amount to be pulled from the Consent Agenda.  
 
Item 6  CONSENT AGENDA 
Clerk Miller moved, seconded by Trustee Leuty, to approve the consent agenda 
which included action on the following items: 
 
Approval of: 

A. Minutes of March 22, 2021 Board of Trustees Special Work Session Meeting 
B. Minutes of March 22, 2021 Board of Trustees Regular Meeting 
C. Payment of Bills in the amount of $103,700.54 (removed). 

 
Receipt of: 

A. Check Disbursement Report for March 2021 
B. Electronic Funds Transfer Report for March 2021 
C. Fire Department Annual Report for 2020 
D. Planning and Zoning Report for March 2021 
E. Kalamazoo Area Building Authority Reports for March 2021 

 
Roll call vote (7-0). Motion carried. 
 
 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF KALAMAZOO - BOARD OF TRUSTEES – April 12, 2021 - Page 2 of 5  

 

Item 7  PUBLIC HEARING / PRESENTATION 
  None.  
 
Item 8  UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
   
Item 8A REQUEST TO APPROVE SINGLE HAULER WASTE CONTRACT 

WITH REPUBLIC SERVICES 
Manager Mitchell commented that this is a five-year contract, we did do an RFP and 
evaluated two proposals. These rates are a few dollars lower than where we ended the 
previous contract. 
 
Trustee Robinson moved approval of the contract, seconded by Trustee Glass. 
 
Trustee Leuty commented that the rates are at $9 per month, the same prices as the 
mid-1990s. We have “built-in” efficiency. We no longer have multiple garbage trucks 
going down our streets. Treasurer Miller asked who the bidders were; there were two. 
There is a fuel recovery fee, how will that be charged? Supervisor Martin answered 
that this is in case fuel prices spike. Attorney Seeber read the applicable paragraph. 
 
Roll call vote (7-0). Motion carried. 
 
Item 9  NEW BUSINESS 
 
Item 9A REQUEST TO REPLACE TWO OVERHEAD GARAGE DOORS AT THE 

TOWNSHIP HALL 
Supervisor Martin explained the repairs that have been done previously to the doors, 
the cost of $8,338 will come out of capital improvement. 
 
Treasurer Miller moved, seconded by Trustee Moiaery, to replace the doors for 
$8,338, that it come out of 101-265-931 (Building Maintenance), and the Manager 
to sign required documents. 
 
Roll call vote (7-0). Motion carried. 
 
Item 9B REQUEST TO HAVE PARKING LOTS SEALED AND STRIPED AT 

THE TOWNSHIP HALL, WESTWOOD, NORTHWOOD, AND 
LAKEWOOD FIRE STATIONS 

Supervisor Martin explained the sealing to extend the life of our parking lot surfaces.  
 
Trustee Leuty moved to approve for a total cost of $20,368, and authorize the 
Manager to sign the documents, seconded by Supervisor Martin. 
 
Treasurer Miller moved (seconded by Trustee Leuty) to amend the motion by 
allocating $10,855 expense to cover maintenance for the fire station parking lots 
from Fire Capital special assessment, and $9513 to come from grounds 
maintenance.  
 
Roll call vote (7-0). Amendment carried. 
 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF KALAMAZOO - BOARD OF TRUSTEES – April 12, 2021 - Page 3 of 5  

 

Roll call vote on the Main motion (7-0). Motion carried. 
 
Item 9C REQUEST TO ADOPT RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING KALAMAZOO 

COUNTY DRAIN COMMISSIONER TO EXPEND MONEY IN EXCESS 
OF $5,000 PER MILE FOR LESTERHOUSE DRAIN MAINTENANCE 
OR REPAIR 

Manager Mitchell spoke about the Lesterhouse Drain; typically we do $5,000 on this 
per year. The total proposed expenditure is for $30,000. The contingency fund will 
supply $25,000.  
 
Clerk Miller moved, seconded by Treasurer Miller to adopt the resolution calling 
for $30,000 maintenance on the drain. 
 
Treasurer Miller thanked neighboring taxpayers who have been assessed for this 
already. 
 
Trustee Glass asked if we have assurance that the fix will work. Treasurer Miller cited 
previous projects where neighbors were very happy. 
 
Roll call vote (7-0). Motion carried. 
 
Item 9D REQUEST TO ACCEPT PROPOSED ORDINANCE NO. 628 FOR 

FIRST READING 
Attorney Seeber explained that the former Sports Forum has an adjacent parcel that 
needs to have matching zoning to be redeveloped.  
 
Trustee Leuty moved to accept Ordinance 628 for first reading, seconded by 
Trustee Robinson. 
 
Trustee Glass asked whether there are neighbors? Trustee Leuty said there were a 
few. It is positive to make these adjacent uses match. Trustee Leuty clarified that the 
parcel is “land-locked” and has no access other than through an adjoining parcel. 
 
Roll call vote (7-0). Motion carried. 
 
Item 10 ITEMS REMOVED FROM THE CONSENT AGENDA 
 
Item 10A  Payment of bills. 
Clerk Miller moved, seconded by Treasurer Miller to pay the bills in the amount 
of $103,700.54. Roll call vote (7-0). Motion carried. 
 
Item 11 BOARD MEMBER REPORTS 
Trustee Leuty highlighted the Fire Department Annual report, with 2359 calls for 
service, increasing at an amazing level over the last ten years. COVID has required a 
lot more work to adapt. Code enforcement is proceeding very well, what the residents 
have asked for. Planning Commission met April 1, discussed a special land use 
request for “Healthy House” on Douglas, tabled to next meeting pending site plan. 
Approved rezoning a parcel 803 W Mosel that the Board has just acted on tonight. A 
gas station on Douglas and Mosel will have improvements including sidewalks. April 14 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF KALAMAZOO - BOARD OF TRUSTEES – April 12, 2021 - Page 4 of 5  

 

the Planning Commission will review the draft Master Plan and take public input. A 
number of residents have emphasized the importance of spot repair of sidewalks. 
Parks are getting increased use with warmer weather. 
 
Trustee Glass reported on Communications and Engagement Committee, will be 
proceeding on evaluation of web providers. She discussed some of the priorities for a 
new website. 
 
Trustee Moiaery reported that PMN met, discussed open Board seats. There has been 
a reduction in transportation services due to COVID surge.  
 
Trustee Robinson thanked Chief Ergang and others who took Board members on a 
tour of Township properties and enforcement concerns. Continue to stay safe!  
 
Clerk Miller reported on the first meeting of the Township Climate Committee. We will 
review the plans from other municipalities. He addressed the upcoming May election; 
there is a lot of routine work regardless the size of an election. There are 69 election 
bills in the Michigan Senate now, many of which would unnecessarily restrict voter 
access to our elections.  
 
Treasurer Miller reported work session suggestions for our money coming from the 
American Rescue Plan. She is unclear about the procedure of removing items from the 
Consent Agenda.  
 
Supervisor Martin thanked the Fire Chief for the annual report, and both chiefs for their 
response to COVID. The pandemic is still spreading in Michigan. He thanked residents 
for looking at our bills.  
 
Item 12 ATTORNEY’S REPORT 
Attorney Seeber reviewed the procedure we followed to remove an item from the 
Consent Agenda.  
 
Item 13 MANAGER REPORT 
The Manager thanked the Fire Department for the report and reported on the upcoming 
MTA conference. We continue to work on the Nichols Rd. speed limit. We participated 
in discussions on Bus-131, and on removal of remaining lead water service lines. 
 
Item 14  PUBLIC COMMENTS 
Jim Ferner asked about the talk encouraging citizen participation, whereas he finds 
residents saying they are not being listened to. Budgets are not clear. Citizens 
appreciate honesty and integrity. No more new sidewalks – maintain those we have.  
 
Ron Huster said the neighborhood Facebook page posted on FEMA grant availability. 
The new speed limit on Nichols is “working”, with a gravel truck moving at 53 mph. 
There will be problems with school busses.  
 
M Pence acknowledged Molly Cole for her service. He has made himself available to 
Board members, he has not received information. He asked a legitimate question: total 
bills are changing from one meeting. 



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF KALAMAZOO - BOARD OF TRUSTEES – April 12, 2021 - Page 5 of 5  

 

 
Item 15 ADJOURNMENT 
 
Adjourned at 9:04 pm.  
  
BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT:              Respectfully submitted, 

Supervisor Donald D. Martin 
Clerk Mark E. Miller 
Treasurer Sherine M. Miller   __________________________ 
Trustee Ashley Glass 
Trustee Steven C. Leuty   Mark E. Miller, Clerk   
Trustee Lisa Moiaery      
Trustee Clara D. Robinson 
              

ABSENT: None     Attested to by,  
              

ALSO PRESENT:  
Attorney Roxanne Seeber         
Manager Dexter Mitchell         
        ___________________________ 
        Donald D. Martin, Supervisor 
 

 



INVOICE REGISTER REPORT FOR CHARTER TOWNSHP OF KALAMAZOO 1/12Page:04/21/2021 10:35 AM
User: MONICAK
DB: Kalamazoo Twp

EXP CHECK RUN DATES 04/27/2021 - 04/27/2021
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED OPEN

 BANK CODE: POOL

GL Distribution
Post DateEntered ByDescriptionInv Ref#   
JrnlizedStatusAmt DueInv AmtDue DateInv DateVendorInv Num    

Vendor 001206 - 4 SEASONS TREE SERVICES, LLC:

04/21/2021MONICAKTREE REMOVAL
NOpen1,850.00 1,850.00 04/27/202104/27/20214 SEASONS TREE SERVICES, LLC31902

158

1,850.00 REPAIRS - MAINT. GROUNDS101-751-932.00
1,850.00 1,850.00 Total for vendor 001206 - 4 SEASONS TREE SERVICES, LLC:

Vendor 001230 - APOLLO FIRE EQUIPMENT:

04/21/2021MONICAKCONTROLLER
NOpen645.98 645.98 04/27/202104/27/2021APOLLO FIRE EQUIPMENT31874

57805

645.98 MAINT. - VEHICLE206-336-939.00
645.98 645.98 Total for vendor 001230 - APOLLO FIRE EQUIPMENT:

Vendor 001301 - APPLIED CONCEPTS, INC.:

04/21/2021MONICAKNEW VEHICLE RADARS
NOpen6,569.95 6,569.95 04/27/202104/27/2021APPLIED CONCEPTS, INC.31847

381636

6,569.95 NEW EQUIPMENT810-440-983.00
6,569.95 6,569.95 Total for vendor 001301 - APPLIED CONCEPTS, INC.:

Vendor 003007 - BILL'S LOCK SHOP, INC.:

04/21/2021MONICAKKEYS
NOpen7.50 7.50 04/27/202104/27/2021BILL'S LOCK SHOP, INC.31867

3063

7.50 SMALL TOOLS & EQUIPMENT207-301-747.00
7.50 7.50 Total for vendor 003007 - BILL'S LOCK SHOP, INC.:

Vendor 004650 - BRONSON HEALTHCARE GROUP:

04/21/2021MONICAKACCT #700000115
NOpen120.00 120.00 04/27/202104/27/2021BRONSON HEALTHCARE GROUP31854

040421

120.00 HEALTH MGMT101-200-914.00
120.00 120.00 Total for vendor 004650 - BRONSON HEALTHCARE GROUP:

Vendor 006711 - STEENSMA LAWN & POWER EQUIPMENT:

04/21/2021MONICAKMISC SUPPLIES
NOpen81.24 81.24 04/27/202104/27/2021STEENSMA LAWN & POWER EQUIPMENT31888

805008

81.24 MAINT. - MACHINE101-265-934.00



INVOICE REGISTER REPORT FOR CHARTER TOWNSHP OF KALAMAZOO 2/12Page:04/21/2021 10:35 AM
User: MONICAK
DB: Kalamazoo Twp

EXP CHECK RUN DATES 04/27/2021 - 04/27/2021
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED OPEN

 BANK CODE: POOL

GL Distribution
Post DateEntered ByDescriptionInv Ref#   
JrnlizedStatusAmt DueInv AmtDue DateInv DateVendorInv Num    

04/21/2021MONICAKCREDIT MEMO
NOpen(14.94)(14.94)04/27/202104/27/2021STEENSMA LAWN & POWER EQUIPMENT31889

772284

(14.94)MAINT. - MACHINE206-336-934.00
66.30 66.30 Total for vendor 006711 - STEENSMA LAWN & POWER EQUIPMENT:

Vendor 007870 - DATAWORKS PLUS LLC:

04/21/2021MONICAKMAINTENANCE FEE
NOpen878.87 878.87 04/27/202104/27/2021DATAWORKS PLUS LLC31883

21-545

878.87 LIVESCAN EXPENSE217-301-956.00
878.87 878.87 Total for vendor 007870 - DATAWORKS PLUS LLC:

Vendor 008636 - DLZ MICHIGAN, INC:

04/21/2021MONICAKCONCEPT DESIGN
NOpen5,070.00 5,070.00 04/27/202104/27/2021DLZ MICHIGAN, INC31857

145048

5,070.00 BUILDINGS - EASTWOOD STATION811-440-975.01
5,070.00 5,070.00 Total for vendor 008636 - DLZ MICHIGAN, INC:

Vendor 009306 - DR. HOOKS, INC.:

04/21/2021MONICAKNAME PLATES
NOpen36.00 36.00 04/27/202104/27/2021DR. HOOKS, INC.31901

140907

36.00 OPERATING SUPPLIES206-336-740.00
36.00 36.00 Total for vendor 009306 - DR. HOOKS, INC.:

Vendor 010621 - EDWARDS INDUSTRIAL SALES, INC.:

04/21/2021MONICAKMISC SUPPLIES
NOpen112.40 112.40 04/27/202104/27/2021EDWARDS INDUSTRIAL SALES, INC.31893

3322446

112.40 MAINT. - VEHICLE206-336-939.00

04/21/2021MONICAKMISC SUPPLIES
NOpen32.46 32.46 04/27/202104/27/2021EDWARDS INDUSTRIAL SALES, INC.31894

3322395

32.46 MAINT. - BUILDING206-336-931.00

04/21/2021MONICAKMISC SUPPLIES
NOpen20.17 20.17 04/27/202104/27/2021EDWARDS INDUSTRIAL SALES, INC.31895

3322506

20.17 MAINT. - VEHICLE206-336-939.00
165.03 165.03 Total for vendor 010621 - EDWARDS INDUSTRIAL SALES, INC.:



INVOICE REGISTER REPORT FOR CHARTER TOWNSHP OF KALAMAZOO 3/12Page:04/21/2021 10:35 AM
User: MONICAK
DB: Kalamazoo Twp

EXP CHECK RUN DATES 04/27/2021 - 04/27/2021
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED OPEN

 BANK CODE: POOL

GL Distribution
Post DateEntered ByDescriptionInv Ref#   
JrnlizedStatusAmt DueInv AmtDue DateInv DateVendorInv Num    

Vendor 011712 - FERGUSON FACILITIES #3400:

04/21/2021MONICAKMISC SUPPLIES
NOpen564.58 564.58 04/27/202104/27/2021FERGUSON FACILITIES #340031862

WK048046

564.58 OPERATING SUPPLIES101-265-740.00

04/21/2021MONICAKMISC SUPPLIES
NOpen21.67 21.67 04/27/202104/27/2021FERGUSON FACILITIES #340031891

WK048046-1

21.67 OPERATING SUPPLIES101-265-740.00

04/21/2021MONICAKMISC SUPPLIES
NOpen43.24 43.24 04/27/202104/27/2021FERGUSON FACILITIES #340031903

WK048046-2

43.24 OPERATING SUPPLIES101-265-740.00
629.49 629.49 Total for vendor 011712 - FERGUSON FACILITIES #3400:

Vendor 022170 - INTEGRITY BUSINESS SOLUTIONS, LLC:

04/21/2021MONICAKOFFICE SUPPLIES
NOpen92.68 92.68 04/27/202104/27/2021INTEGRITY BUSINESS SOLUTIONS, LLC31848

2198072-0

92.68 OFFICE SUPPLIES207-301-727.00

04/21/2021MONICAKOFFICE SUPPLIES
NOpen64.64 64.64 04/27/202104/27/2021INTEGRITY BUSINESS SOLUTIONS, LLC31849

2199146-0

64.64 OFFICE SUPPLIES101-200-727.00

04/21/2021MONICAKOFFICE SUPPLIES
NOpen43.54 43.54 04/27/202104/27/2021INTEGRITY BUSINESS SOLUTIONS, LLC31898

2203307-0

43.54 OFFICE SUPPLIES101-200-727.00

04/21/2021MONICAKOFFICE SUPPLIES
NOpen261.00 261.00 04/27/202104/27/2021INTEGRITY BUSINESS SOLUTIONS, LLC31899

2203428-0

261.00 OFFICE SUPPLIES101-200-727.00

04/21/2021MONICAKOFFICE SUPPLIES
NOpen3.24 3.24 04/27/202104/27/2021INTEGRITY BUSINESS SOLUTIONS, LLC31900

2203533-0

3.24 OFFICE SUPPLIES101-200-727.00

04/21/2021MONICAKOFFICE SUPPLIES
NOpen43.54 43.54 04/27/202104/27/2021INTEGRITY BUSINESS SOLUTIONS, LLC31913

2203309-0

43.54 OFFICE SUPPLIES207-301-727.00
508.64 508.64 Total for vendor 022170 - INTEGRITY BUSINESS SOLUTIONS, LLC:



INVOICE REGISTER REPORT FOR CHARTER TOWNSHP OF KALAMAZOO 4/12Page:04/21/2021 10:35 AM
User: MONICAK
DB: Kalamazoo Twp

EXP CHECK RUN DATES 04/27/2021 - 04/27/2021
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED OPEN

 BANK CODE: POOL

GL Distribution
Post DateEntered ByDescriptionInv Ref#   
JrnlizedStatusAmt DueInv AmtDue DateInv DateVendorInv Num    

Vendor 024210 - J.P. COOKE COMPANY:

04/21/2021MONICAKSTAMPS/PADS
NOpen106.48 106.48 04/27/202104/27/2021J.P. COOKE COMPANY31863

669203

106.48 OFFICE SUPPLIES101-200-727.00
106.48 106.48 Total for vendor 024210 - J.P. COOKE COMPANY:

Vendor 026062 - MLIVE MEDIA GROUP:

04/21/2021MONICAKNOTICES
NOpen557.32 557.32 04/27/202104/27/2021MLIVE MEDIA GROUP31914

0009890909

557.32 NOTICES101-400-903.00

04/21/2021MONICAKNOTICES
NOpen380.80 380.80 04/27/202104/27/2021MLIVE MEDIA GROUP31915

0009904080

380.80 NOTICES AND PUBLICATIONS101-200-903.00

04/21/2021MONICAKNOTICES
NOpen499.75 499.75 04/27/202104/27/2021MLIVE MEDIA GROUP31916

0009905150

499.75 NOTICES101-400-903.00

04/21/2021MONICAKNOTICES
NOpen307.83 307.83 04/27/202104/27/2021MLIVE MEDIA GROUP31917

0009911054

307.83 NOTICES101-400-903.00

04/21/2021MONICAKNOTICES
NOpen283.57 283.57 04/27/202104/27/2021MLIVE MEDIA GROUP31918

0009922340

283.57 NOTICES101-400-903.00

04/21/2021MONICAKNOTICES
NOpen245.00 245.00 04/27/202104/27/2021MLIVE MEDIA GROUP31919

0009912495

245.00 DUES/SUBS/PUBL101-175-732.00
2,274.27 2,274.27 Total for vendor 026062 - MLIVE MEDIA GROUP:

Vendor 026076 - KALAMAZOO LANDSCAPE SUPPLIES:

04/21/2021MONICAKSOIL
NOpen27.25 27.25 04/27/202104/27/2021KALAMAZOO LANDSCAPE SUPPLIES31855

IN0196078

27.25 MAINT. - GROUNDS206-336-932.00



INVOICE REGISTER REPORT FOR CHARTER TOWNSHP OF KALAMAZOO 5/12Page:04/21/2021 10:35 AM
User: MONICAK
DB: Kalamazoo Twp

EXP CHECK RUN DATES 04/27/2021 - 04/27/2021
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED OPEN

 BANK CODE: POOL

GL Distribution
Post DateEntered ByDescriptionInv Ref#   
JrnlizedStatusAmt DueInv AmtDue DateInv DateVendorInv Num    

04/21/2021MONICAKSOIL
NOpen54.50 54.50 04/27/202104/27/2021KALAMAZOO LANDSCAPE SUPPLIES31890

IN0196807

54.50 MAINT. - GROUNDS101-276-932.00
81.75 81.75 Total for vendor 026076 - KALAMAZOO LANDSCAPE SUPPLIES:

Vendor 026080 - KAL. COUNTY HEALTH & COMM SERVICES:

04/21/2021MONICAKFLUORESCENT BULB DISPOSAL
NOpen37.20 37.20 04/27/202104/27/2021KAL. COUNTY HEALTH & COMM SERVICES31904

14-0024514

37.20 PURCHASED SERVICE101-265-811.00

04/21/2021MONICAKHHW - 1ST QTR
NOpen1,577.41 1,577.41 04/27/202104/27/2021KAL. COUNTY HEALTH & COMM SERVICES31905

14-0024533

1,577.41 SOLID WASTE226-527-811.00

04/21/2021MONICAKHHW ANNUAL OP COST
NOpen8,088.00 8,088.00 04/27/202104/27/2021KAL. COUNTY HEALTH & COMM SERVICES31906

14-0024517

8,088.00 SOLID WASTE226-527-811.00
9,702.61 9,702.61 Total for vendor 026080 - KAL. COUNTY HEALTH & COMM SERVICES:

Vendor 026096 - ENGINEERED PROTECTION SYSTEMS, INC.:

04/21/2021MONICAKMONITORING
NOpen344.76 344.76 04/27/202104/27/2021ENGINEERED PROTECTION SYSTEMS, INC.31850

A795684

344.76 PURCHASED SERVICE101-200-811.00

04/21/2021MONICAKMONITORING
NOpen104.22 104.22 04/27/202104/27/2021ENGINEERED PROTECTION SYSTEMS, INC.31875

A795502

104.22 PURCHASED & MAINT. SERVICE206-336-811.00

04/21/2021MONICAKMONITORING
NOpen104.22 104.22 04/27/202104/27/2021ENGINEERED PROTECTION SYSTEMS, INC.31876

A795517

104.22 PURCHASED & MAINT. SERVICE206-336-811.00

04/21/2021MONICAKMONITORING
NOpen104.22 104.22 04/27/202104/27/2021ENGINEERED PROTECTION SYSTEMS, INC.31877

A795516

104.22 PURCHASED & MAINT. SERVICE206-336-811.00

04/21/2021MONICAKMONITORING
NOpen104.22 104.22 04/27/202104/27/2021ENGINEERED PROTECTION SYSTEMS, INC.31878

A795518



INVOICE REGISTER REPORT FOR CHARTER TOWNSHP OF KALAMAZOO 6/12Page:04/21/2021 10:35 AM
User: MONICAK
DB: Kalamazoo Twp

EXP CHECK RUN DATES 04/27/2021 - 04/27/2021
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED OPEN

 BANK CODE: POOL

GL Distribution
Post DateEntered ByDescriptionInv Ref#   
JrnlizedStatusAmt DueInv AmtDue DateInv DateVendorInv Num    

104.22 PURCHASED & MAINT. SERVICE206-336-811.00
761.64 761.64 Total for vendor 026096 - ENGINEERED PROTECTION SYSTEMS, INC.:

Vendor 026108 - KRWWC:

04/21/2021MONICAKMEMBERSHIP DUES
NOpen25,000.00 25,000.00 04/27/202104/27/2021KRWWC31887

041322

11,250.00 DUES/SUBS/PUBL883-520-732.00
13,750.00 DUES/SUBS/PUBL871-441-732.00

25,000.00 25,000.00 Total for vendor 026108 - KRWWC:

Vendor 028639 - R.W. LAPINE, INC.:

04/21/2021MONICAKREPAIR BOILER
NOpen225.00 225.00 04/27/202104/27/2021R.W. LAPINE, INC.31872

29037

225.00 PURCHASED SERVICE101-265-811.00
225.00 225.00 Total for vendor 028639 - R.W. LAPINE, INC.:

Vendor 031022 - QUADIENT LEASING USA, INC.:

04/21/2021MONICAKLEASE PAYMENT
NOpen566.58 566.58 04/27/202104/27/2021QUADIENT LEASING USA, INC.31853

N8812526

566.58 PURCHASED SERVICE101-200-811.00
566.58 566.58 Total for vendor 031022 - QUADIENT LEASING USA, INC.:

Vendor 031023 - QUADIENT FINANCE USA, INC:

04/21/2021MONICAKACCT #7900044080501095
NOpen55.43 55.43 04/27/202104/27/2021QUADIENT FINANCE USA, INC31897

040921

55.43 OFFICE SUPPLIES101-200-727.00
55.43 55.43 Total for vendor 031023 - QUADIENT FINANCE USA, INC:

Vendor 031552 - MENARDS - KALAMAZOO EAST:

04/21/2021MONICAKMISC SUPPLIES
NOpen304.60 304.60 04/27/202104/27/2021MENARDS - KALAMAZOO EAST31873

47096

304.60 MAINT. - GROUNDS206-336-932.00

04/21/2021MONICAKMISC SUPPLIES
NOpen63.17 63.17 04/27/202104/27/2021MENARDS - KALAMAZOO EAST31879

47205

63.17 MAINT. - BUILDING206-336-931.00



INVOICE REGISTER REPORT FOR CHARTER TOWNSHP OF KALAMAZOO 7/12Page:04/21/2021 10:35 AM
User: MONICAK
DB: Kalamazoo Twp

EXP CHECK RUN DATES 04/27/2021 - 04/27/2021
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED OPEN

 BANK CODE: POOL

GL Distribution
Post DateEntered ByDescriptionInv Ref#   
JrnlizedStatusAmt DueInv AmtDue DateInv DateVendorInv Num    

367.77 367.77 Total for vendor 031552 - MENARDS - KALAMAZOO EAST:

Vendor 031998 - MICHIGAN ELECTION RESOURCES:

04/21/2021MONICAKCHANGE CARDS/MAILING
NOpen349.14 349.14 04/27/202104/27/2021MICHIGAN ELECTION RESOURCES31860

14119

294.14 OFFICE SUPPLIES101-215-727.00
55.00 PURCHASED SERVICE101-215-811.00

349.14 349.14 Total for vendor 031998 - MICHIGAN ELECTION RESOURCES:

Vendor 032020 - MICHIGAN MUNICIPAL POLICE:

04/21/2021MONICAKREPLACE BATTERY
NOpen253.99 253.99 04/27/202104/27/2021MICHIGAN MUNICIPAL POLICE31865

3064

253.99 MAINT. - VEHICLE207-301-939.00

04/21/2021MONICAKBRAKE REPAIR
NOpen714.58 714.58 04/27/202104/27/2021MICHIGAN MUNICIPAL POLICE31866

3060

714.58 MAINT. - VEHICLE207-301-939.00

04/21/2021MONICAKBRAKE REPAIR
NOpen858.04 858.04 04/27/202104/27/2021MICHIGAN MUNICIPAL POLICE31910

3068

858.04 MAINT. - VEHICLE207-301-939.00

04/21/2021MONICAKBRAKE REPAIR
NOpen692.64 692.64 04/27/202104/27/2021MICHIGAN MUNICIPAL POLICE31911

3069

692.64 MAINT. - VEHICLE207-301-939.00

04/21/2021MONICAKREPLACE BELT
NOpen70.29 70.29 04/27/202104/27/2021MICHIGAN MUNICIPAL POLICE31912

3066

70.29 MAINT. - VEHICLE207-301-939.00
2,589.54 2,589.54 Total for vendor 032020 - MICHIGAN MUNICIPAL POLICE:

Vendor 035237 - NYE UNIFORM CO.:

04/21/2021MONICAKNAME BAR
NOpen17.70 17.70 04/27/202104/27/2021NYE UNIFORM CO.31868

770100

17.70 UNIFORMS/PERSONAL EQUIPMENT207-301-748.00

04/21/2021MONICAKUNIFORMS
NOpen126.48 126.48 04/27/202104/27/2021NYE UNIFORM CO.31869

764947



INVOICE REGISTER REPORT FOR CHARTER TOWNSHP OF KALAMAZOO 8/12Page:04/21/2021 10:35 AM
User: MONICAK
DB: Kalamazoo Twp

EXP CHECK RUN DATES 04/27/2021 - 04/27/2021
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED OPEN

 BANK CODE: POOL

GL Distribution
Post DateEntered ByDescriptionInv Ref#   
JrnlizedStatusAmt DueInv AmtDue DateInv DateVendorInv Num    

126.48 UNIFORMS/PERSONAL EQUIPMENT207-301-748.00
144.18 144.18 Total for vendor 035237 - NYE UNIFORM CO.:

Vendor 044000 - R & M AUTO BODY, INC.:

04/21/2021MONICAKREPAIR #85
NOpen2,563.10 2,563.10 04/27/202104/27/2021R & M AUTO BODY, INC.31884

041321

2,563.10 MAINT. - VEHICLE207-301-939.00
2,563.10 2,563.10 Total for vendor 044000 - R & M AUTO BODY, INC.:

Vendor 048811 - SUNBELT RENTALS, INC.:

04/21/2021MONICAKFLOOR PADS
NOpen42.29 42.29 04/27/202104/27/2021SUNBELT RENTALS, INC.31892

112056314-0001

42.29 OPERATING SUPPLIES101-265-740.00
42.29 42.29 Total for vendor 048811 - SUNBELT RENTALS, INC.:

Vendor 050012 - ADVANCED RADIOLOGY SERVICES:

04/21/2021MONICAK#ARS.B100414213 - GIBSON
NOpen35.00 35.00 04/27/202104/27/2021ADVANCED RADIOLOGY SERVICES31880

040321

35.00 HEALTH MGMT101-200-914.00
35.00 35.00 Total for vendor 050012 - ADVANCED RADIOLOGY SERVICES:

Vendor 050014 - SIGNATURE FORD, L-M:

04/21/2021MONICAK2021 FORD EDGE
NOpen28,606.00 28,606.00 04/27/202104/27/2021SIGNATURE FORD, L-M31909

BW751

28,606.00 NEW EQUIPMENT810-440-983.00
28,606.00 28,606.00 Total for vendor 050014 - SIGNATURE FORD, L-M:

Vendor 051072 - TRILLIUM STAFFING, INC.:

04/21/2021MONICAKCLIENT #138371
NOpen879.12 879.12 04/27/202104/27/2021TRILLIUM STAFFING, INC.31864

3072286

879.12 PURCHASED SERVICE101-200-811.00
879.12 879.12 Total for vendor 051072 - TRILLIUM STAFFING, INC.:

Vendor 057247 - VERIZON WIRELESS - VSAT:



INVOICE REGISTER REPORT FOR CHARTER TOWNSHP OF KALAMAZOO 9/12Page:04/21/2021 10:35 AM
User: MONICAK
DB: Kalamazoo Twp

EXP CHECK RUN DATES 04/27/2021 - 04/27/2021
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED OPEN

 BANK CODE: POOL

GL Distribution
Post DateEntered ByDescriptionInv Ref#   
JrnlizedStatusAmt DueInv AmtDue DateInv DateVendorInv Num    

04/21/2021MONICAKSMS
NOpen50.00 50.00 04/27/202104/27/2021VERIZON WIRELESS - VSAT31907

21230465-93166176

50.00 INVESTIGATIVE OPERATIONS207-301-782.00
50.00 50.00 Total for vendor 057247 - VERIZON WIRELESS - VSAT:

Vendor 500201 - EMERGENCY VEHICLE PRODUCTS:

04/21/2021MONICAKREATTACH TAB/MOUNT CAMERA
NOpen57.50 57.50 04/27/202104/27/2021EMERGENCY VEHICLE PRODUCTS31908

S0014564

57.50 MAINT. - VEHICLE207-301-939.00
57.50 57.50 Total for vendor 500201 - EMERGENCY VEHICLE PRODUCTS:

Vendor 500285 - DORRANCE FORD:

04/21/2021MONICAKOIL CHANGE
NOpen44.09 44.09 04/27/202104/27/2021DORRANCE FORD31844

26049202

44.09 MAINT. - VEHICLE207-301-939.00

04/21/2021MONICAKOIL CHANGE
NOpen44.09 44.09 04/27/202104/27/2021DORRANCE FORD31846

26049339

44.09 MAINT. - VEHICLE207-301-939.00

04/21/2021MONICAKOIL CHANGE
NOpen44.09 44.09 04/27/202104/27/2021DORRANCE FORD31882

26049473

44.09 MAINT. - VEHICLE207-301-939.00
132.27 132.27 Total for vendor 500285 - DORRANCE FORD:

Vendor 500510 - PORTAGE CLEANERS AND LAUNDRY:

04/21/2021MONICAKCLEANING
NOpen76.66 76.66 04/27/202104/27/2021PORTAGE CLEANERS AND LAUNDRY31881

C0E88A9

76.66 UNIFORM CLEANING207-301-749.00
76.66 76.66 Total for vendor 500510 - PORTAGE CLEANERS AND LAUNDRY:

Vendor 500590 - LOWE'S COMPANIES, INC.:

04/21/2021MONICAKMISC SUPPLIES
NOpen69.35 69.35 04/27/202104/27/2021LOWE'S COMPANIES, INC.31852

01870

69.35 SMALL TOOLS & EQUIPMENT101-265-747.00



INVOICE REGISTER REPORT FOR CHARTER TOWNSHP OF KALAMAZOO 10/12Page:04/21/2021 10:35 AM
User: MONICAK
DB: Kalamazoo Twp

EXP CHECK RUN DATES 04/27/2021 - 04/27/2021
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED OPEN

 BANK CODE: POOL

GL Distribution
Post DateEntered ByDescriptionInv Ref#   
JrnlizedStatusAmt DueInv AmtDue DateInv DateVendorInv Num    

04/21/2021MONICAKMISC SUPPLIES
NOpen19.52 19.52 04/27/202104/27/2021LOWE'S COMPANIES, INC.31886

01344

19.52 OPERATING SUPPLIES101-265-740.00
88.87 88.87 Total for vendor 500590 - LOWE'S COMPANIES, INC.:

Vendor 500598 - EXTREME POWER EQUIPMENT:

04/21/2021MONICAKMISC SUPPLIES
NOpen72.88 72.88 04/27/202104/27/2021EXTREME POWER EQUIPMENT31851

50382

72.88 MAINT. - MACHINE101-265-934.00
72.88 72.88 Total for vendor 500598 - EXTREME POWER EQUIPMENT:

Vendor 500646 - MILLER, CANFIELD, PADDOCK:

04/21/2021MONICAKLEGAL SUPPORT
NOpen234.00 234.00 04/27/202104/27/2021MILLER, CANFIELD, PADDOCK31896

1515487

234.00 LEGAL SERVICES - GEN TWP101-200-827.00
234.00 234.00 Total for vendor 500646 - MILLER, CANFIELD, PADDOCK:

Vendor 500724 - ON DUTY GEAR, LLC:

04/21/2021MONICAKVESTS
NOpen1,790.00 1,790.00 04/27/202104/27/2021ON DUTY GEAR, LLC31858

24619

1,790.00 NEW EQUIPMENT810-440-983.00
1,790.00 1,790.00 Total for vendor 500724 - ON DUTY GEAR, LLC:

Vendor 501053 - VARTEC, LLC:

04/21/2021MONICAKRECORDS MGMT SYSTEM
NOpen14,145.00 14,145.00 04/27/202104/27/2021VARTEC, LLC31871

13320

14,145.00 NEW EQUIPMENT810-440-983.00
14,145.00 14,145.00 Total for vendor 501053 - VARTEC, LLC:

Vendor 501054 - VENTURE TACTICAL:

04/21/2021MONICAKVESTS
NOpen3,686.50 3,686.50 04/27/202104/27/2021VENTURE TACTICAL31845

10071

3,686.50 NEW EQUIPMENT810-440-983.00
3,686.50 3,686.50 Total for vendor 501054 - VENTURE TACTICAL:



INVOICE REGISTER REPORT FOR CHARTER TOWNSHP OF KALAMAZOO 11/12Page:04/21/2021 10:35 AM
User: MONICAK
DB: Kalamazoo Twp

EXP CHECK RUN DATES 04/27/2021 - 04/27/2021
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED OPEN

 BANK CODE: POOL

GL Distribution
Post DateEntered ByDescriptionInv Ref#   
JrnlizedStatusAmt DueInv AmtDue DateInv DateVendorInv Num    

Vendor 501105 - WMCJTC:

04/21/2021MONICAKTRAINING - STAGGS/ZUK
NOpen200.00 200.00 04/27/202104/27/2021WMCJTC31859

4331

200.00 TUITION/TRAINING266-320-960.00
200.00 200.00 Total for vendor 501105 - WMCJTC:

Vendor 501108 - WELLER AUTO PARTS:

04/21/2021MONICAKREGISTRATION - ROBINSON
NOpen266.00 266.00 04/27/202104/27/2021WELLER AUTO PARTS31856

032090

266.00 TRAVEL - CONFERENCES101-101-862.00
266.00 266.00 Total for vendor 501108 - WELLER AUTO PARTS:

Vendor 501122 - XEROX CORPORATION:

04/21/2021MONICAKCUSTOMER #724921614
NOpen335.44 335.44 04/27/202104/27/2021XEROX CORPORATION31861

012999881

335.44 PURCHASED SERVICE101-200-811.00

04/21/2021MONICAKCUSTOMER #724921614
NOpen516.87 516.87 04/27/202104/27/2021XEROX CORPORATION31885

012999880

516.87 PURCHASED SERVICE207-301-811.00
852.31 852.31 Total for vendor 501122 - XEROX CORPORATION:

Vendor 550660 - MCDONALD'S TOWING:

04/21/2021MONICAKTOWING
NOpen55.00 55.00 04/27/202104/27/2021MCDONALD'S TOWING31870

780919

55.00 MAINT. - VEHICLE207-301-939.00
55.00 55.00 Total for vendor 550660 - MCDONALD'S TOWING:

112,619.59 112,619.59 # of Invoices:              75  # Due:    75           Totals:
(14.94)(14.94)# of Credit Memos:           1  # Due:     1           Totals:

112,604.65 112,604.65 Net of Invoices and Credit Memos:



INVOICE REGISTER REPORT FOR CHARTER TOWNSHP OF KALAMAZOO 12/12Page:04/21/2021 10:35 AM
User: MONICAK
DB: Kalamazoo Twp

EXP CHECK RUN DATES 04/27/2021 - 04/27/2021
BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED OPEN

 BANK CODE: POOL

GL Distribution
Post DateEntered ByDescriptionInv Ref#   
JrnlizedStatusAmt DueInv AmtDue DateInv DateVendorInv Num    

--- TOTALS BY FUND ---

9,020.11 9,020.11 101 - GENERAL
1,643.97 1,643.97 206 - FIRE
6,328.84 6,328.84 207 - POLICE

878.87 878.87 217 - LIVESCAN/SOR
9,665.41 9,665.41 226 - RUBBISH COLLECTION FUND

200.00 200.00 266 - LAW ENFORCEMENT TRAINING
54,797.45 54,797.45 810 - POLICE CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT
5,070.00 5,070.00 811 - FIRE CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT

13,750.00 13,750.00 871 - WATER IMPROVEMENT
11,250.00 11,250.00 883 - SEWER IMPROVEMENT

--- TOTALS BY DEPT/ACTIVITY ---

266.00 266.00 101 - LEGISLATIVE
245.00 245.00 175 - MANAGER

3,430.03 3,430.03 200 - GENERAL SERVICES_ADMIN
349.14 349.14 215 - CLERK

1,176.97 1,176.97 265 - MAINTENANCE
54.50 54.50 276 - CEMETERY

7,207.71 7,207.71 301 - POLICE
200.00 200.00 320 - STATE TRAINING MONEY

1,643.97 1,643.97 336 - FIRE
1,648.47 1,648.47 400 - PLANNING/ZONING

59,867.45 59,867.45 440 - CAPTIAL IMPROVEMENT
13,750.00 13,750.00 441 - WATER IMPROVEMENT
11,250.00 11,250.00 520 - SEWER IMPROVEMENT
9,665.41 9,665.41 527 - RUBBISH COLLECTION/DISPOSAL
1,850.00 1,850.00 751 - RECREATION



 1 

Household participation in Kalamazoo Township’s seasonal bulk trash collections  

(4/9/21 update) 

 

Collection Areas 

 
 

Household participation 

Collection day Household participation (%) Collection month & year 

Spring Summer Fall 

Monday 
     Lakewood 
 
 
 
 
      
 
     Eastwood (south of E. Main St.) 
  

 
19% 

 
 
 
 
 
 

25% 
 
 

 
14% 

 

 
 
 

12/5% 
20% 

 
 

 
 
 

29%/3% 
20% 

 
 

21% 

 
 

9% 
 

 
8% 

19% 
 
 

13% 
 
 
 

10% 
 

12% 

 
April 2021 
October 2020 
July/August 2020 
July 2019 
October 2014 
October 2003 
 
April 2021 
October 2020 
July 2020/August 2020 
July 2019 
April 2016 
October 2014 
July 2003 
October 2003 

Tuesday  
     Eastwood (north of E. Main St.) 

 
22% 

 
 
 

 
 

 
26%/5% 

14% 

 
 

15% 
 
 

 
April 2021 
October 2020 
July/August 2020 
July 2019 



 2 

14% 
 

 
 

21% 

 
4% 

 

April 2016 
October 2014 
July 2003 

Wednesday 
     Westwood (east of Nichols Rd.) 

 
31% 

 
 

20% 
 
 

14% 

 
 
 

41%/8% 
 

17% 
 
 

20% 

 
 

14% 
 
 

 
8% 

 
April 2021 
October 2020 
July/August 2020 
April 2019 
July 2019 
October 2014 
April 2003 
July 2003 

Thursday 
     Westwood (west of Nichols Rd.) 

 
24% 

 
 

18% 
 

15% 
 

14% 

 
 
 

36%/5% 
 

13% 
 
 
 

20% 

 
 

11% 
 
 
 
 

8% 
 
 

20% 

 
April 2021 
October 2020 
July/August 2020 
April 2019 
July 2019 
April 2016 
October 2014 
April 2003 
July 2003 
October 2003 

Friday 
     Valleywood subdivision 
 
 
      
      
     Northwood 

 
26% 

 
 
 
 

23% 
 
 

23% 

 
 
 

32%/10% 
 
 
 

 
20%/1% 

 
12% 

 

 
 

17% 
 

3% 
 
 

13% 
 
 

 
10% 
16% 

 
April 2021 
October 2020 
July/August 2020 
October 2003 
 
April 2021 
October 2020 
July/August 2020 
April 2019 
July 2019 
October 2014 
October 2003 

Township overall 25% 
 
 
 

~16% 

 
 

31%/5% 
19% 

 

 
13% 

 
 

 
8% 

17% 

April 2021 (465 of 1892 units) 
October 2020 (257 of 1955 units) 
July (681 of 2230 units)/August 2020 
July 2019 
April 2019 
October 2014 (88 of 1113 units) 
October 2003 

 





















 

 

 

200 Ottawa Ave NW Suite 600 
Grand Rapids MI 49503 

WatkinsRoss.com 
616.456.9696 

 

 

 

RETIREMENT PLAN CONSULTANTS, ACTUARIES & ADMINISTRATORS | 100% EMPLOYEE-OWNED 

April 7, 2021 
 
PERSONAL & CONFIDENTIAL 
 
 
Ms. Nancy Desai 

Charter Township of Kalamazoo 

1720 Riverview Drive 

Kalamazoo, MI  49004-1056 

 

RE: Kalamazoo Township Other Post-Employment Benefit Plan 

 

Dear Nancy: 

 
Transmitted via email, this is a copy of your OPEB accounting report for the fiscal year ending 
December 31, 2020.  This information is intended to assist you in complying with Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 74 (GASB 74) Financial Reporting for 
Postemployment Benefit Plans Other than Pension Plans, and Statement No. 75 (GASB 75) 
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other than Pensions. 
 
If you have any questions about this report, please call me at (616) 742-9244. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
Christian R. Veenstra, FCA, ASA, MAAA 
President / Enrolled Actuary 
 
Enclosure 
  

https://watkinsross.com/


R:\50132\2020\GASB\GASB-RPT 74 75 20201231.docx 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Kalamazoo Township Other Post-

Employment Benefit Plan 
 

Accounting Report  
 

for the Period Ending December 31, 2020 

under GASB Statement 74 & 75 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

WATKINS ROSS | 200 OTTAWA AVE N.W. | SUITE 600 | GRAND RAPIDS, MI 49503 | 616.456.9696 



R:\50132\2020\GASB\GASB-RPT 74 75 20201231.docx 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Report presented by: 
 

 

April 2021 



 

 

CONTENTS 

INTRODUCTION AND CERTIFICATION ........................................................................... 1 

COMMENTS ................................................................................................................. 2 

PLAN DESCRIPTION ...................................................................................................... 3 

ASSUMPTIONS AND METHODS .................................................................................... 4 

RECONCILIATION AND RECOGNITION OF NET OPEB LIABILITY ...................................... 5 

Changes in the Net OPEB Liability ............................................................................................................ 5 

Net OPEB Liability – Discount and Trend Rate Sensitivities ..................................................................... 5 

OPEB Expense ........................................................................................................................................... 6 

OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net Position ............................................................................................................. 6 

Deferred Inflows and Outflows of Resources Related to OPEB Plan ....................................................... 6 

Reconciliation of Net OPEB Liability ......................................................................................................... 7 

Total OPEB Liability by Participant Status ................................................................................................ 7 

SCHEDULES OF REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION ........................................ 8 

Description of Actuarially Determined Contributions .............................................................................. 8 

State of Michigan Public Acts 530 and 202 Information .......................................................................... 9 

Changes in Net OPEB Liability and Related Ratios ................................................................................. 10 

Assumptions and Methods for Calculation of Actuarially Determined Contribution ............................ 11 

Assumptions used for PA 202 Reporting ................................................................................................ 13 

Schedule of Difference between Actual and Expected Experience ....................................................... 14 

Schedule of Changes in Assumptions ..................................................................................................... 14 

Schedule of Differences between Projected and Actual Earnings on OPEB Plan Investments .............. 14 

Total Deferred Outflow/(Inflow) of Resources ....................................................................................... 14 

SUMMARY OF PLAN PROVISIONS .............................................................................. 15 

GLOSSARY.................................................................................................................. 16 

 

 



1 

 

 

INTRODUCTION AND CERTIFICATION 

The schedules included in this report have been prepared in order to provide the information 

necessary to comply with Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement Nos. 74 and 

75.  This information may, at the discretion of management of the plan sponsor and its auditor, be 

used for the preparation of its financial statements.  The calculations herein have been made based 

on our understanding of GASB 74 and 75, and may be inappropriate for other purposes.  

 

The calculations summarized in this report involve actuarial calculations that require assumptions 

about future events.  We believe that the assumptions used in the report are within the range of 

possible assumptions that are reasonable and appropriate for the purposes for which they have been 

used.  However, other assumptions are also reasonable and appropriate and their use would produce 

different results. 

 

This report contains additional information and details related to plan provisions and recommended 

contribution calculations. 

 

This report was prepared on the basis of participant data and asset values as reported to us by the 

plan sponsor.  Watkins Ross relied upon the data as submitted, and has no reason to believe that any 

information, which would have a material effect on the results of this valuation, was not considered 

in the preparation of the report. 

The actuary certifying this report represents herself as meeting the Qualification Standards of the 

American Academy of Actuaries to render actuarial opinions contained in the report. 

 

Prepared by:  Certified by: 

 

 

 

    

Lisa J. Hayes  Leah A. Dudley, ASA, MAAA 

Senior OPEB Analyst  Health Actuary 

 

  



2 

 

 

COMMENTS 

Purpose of Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Reporting 

The objective of GASB is to provide guidelines and requirements for accounting and financial reporting by state 

and local governments for postemployment benefits other than pensions (OPEB).  This statement establishes 

standards for recognizing and measuring liabilities, deferred inflows and outflows of resources and methods 

and assumptions that are required to be used to project benefit payments and discount those payments to 

their actuarial present value. 

The methods and assumptions may or may not be an appropriate measure of the plan’s liability for funding 

purposes or for reporting liabilities under Public Act 202 of the State of Michigan.  Thus, liabilities and other 

values calculated for those purposes may differ from the ones used for GASB reporting. 

State of Michigan Public Act 202 

Public Act 202 (PA 202) was drafted to address the underfunded status of pension and retiree healthcare plans 

of local governments in Michigan.  Accordingly, PA 202 included transparency and funding requirements.  In 

addition, in order that the plans’ funded status be reported on a consistent basis, Uniform Assumptions were 

published.  While all of the Uniform Assumptions have a sound and reasonable basis, some might not be 

appropriate for each plan and therefore may be different than what is used for funding.  Additionally, some of 

the assumptions may differ from what is required for reporting under GASB. 

Actuarially Determined Contribution for GASB reporting 

GASB reporting includes a 10-year history of actual annual amounts contributed by an employer on behalf of 

the OPEB plan and an Actuarially Determined Contribution (ADC).  In addition, the report includes a summary 

of assumptions used to determine the ADC.  This reporting requirement presumes a separate funding report 

is completed.  However, for many employers, separate funding studies have not been solicited.  We have 

included a contribution section in this report (Schedules of Required Supplementary Information: Description 

of Actuarially Determined Contribution) that provides this information.  The assumptions and methods used 

for these calculations are derived from those used for GASB reporting and are not necessarily consistent with 

PA 202.  This report includes an ADC determined using an amortization of the unfunded liability over average 

future service for actives for GASB reporting purposes. 

Actuarially Determined Contribution under Public Act 202 

Public Act 202 requires a calculation of an ADC using the Uniform Assumptions prescribed under PA 202.  This 

ADC differs from the one used for the 10-year reporting history noted in the paragraph above.  (Schedules of 

Required Supplementary Information: State of Michigan Public Acts 530 and 202 Information) 

Changes in Actuarial Assumptions, Plan Changes and Expected Actuarial Experience 

There was an actuarial loss (increase in liability) of $377,798, due to changes in demographics other than 

expected and clarification of Police benefits.  The combination of actuarial assumption changes, described in 

the “Assumptions and Methods for Calculation of Actuarially Determined Contribution” section of this report, 

generated an actuarial gain (decrease in liability) of $1,147,885.  The gain was due primarily to the increase in 

the discount rate.  



3 

 

 

PLAN DESCRIPTION 

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  

For purposes of measuring the net Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) liability, deferred 
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB, and OPEB expenses, 
information about the fiduciary net position of the Kalamazoo Township Other Post-Employment 
Benefit Plan and additions to/deductions from the Township’s fiduciary net position have been 
determined on the same basis as they are reported by the Charter Township of Kalamazoo.  For this 
purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due 
and payable in accordance with the benefit terms.  Investments are reported at fair value. 

Plan Description 

Kalamazoo Township Other Post-Employment Benefit Plan is a single employer plan established and 
administered by Charter Township of Kalamazoo and can be amended at its discretion. 

Benefits Provided 

A summary of the benefits provided is available in the Plan Provisions section of the report. 

Summary of Plan Participants 

As of December 31, 2020, Retirement Plan membership consisted of the following: 
 

  

Active members 57 

Inactive members 0 

Retirees and beneficiaries 18 

Total members 75 

Contributions  

The Kalamazoo Township Other Post-Employment Benefit Plan was established and is being funded 
under the authority of the Township and under agreements with unions representing various classes 
of employees. The plan's funding policy is that the Township will contribute at least $100,000 to the 
trust annually and continue to pay benefits from general operating funds until the plan is fully funded. 
There are no long-term contracts for contributions to the plan.  



4 

 

 

ASSUMPTIONS AND METHODS 

The Charter Township of Kalamazoo’s OPEB liability was measured as of December 31, 2020. 

Actuarial Assumptions   

The total OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2020.  The following 
actuarial assumptions were used in the measurement: 
 

 Inflation 2.5% 
 Salary increases 2.0% (for purpose of allocating liability) 
 Investment rate of return 7.35% (including inflation) 
 20-year Aa Municipal bond rate 1.93% (S&P Municipal Bond 20-Year High Grade Rate Index) 
 Mortality Public General and Public Safety 2010 Employee and Healthy 

Retiree, Headcount weighted 
 Improvement Scale MP-2020 
 
The long-term expected rate of return on retirement plan investments was determined using a building-block 
method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of 
retirement plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class.  These ranges are 
combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of 
return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation.  Best estimates of arithmetic 
real rates of return for each major asset class included in the retirement plan’s target asset allocation are 
summarized in the following table: 

 

Asset Class Target Allocation 

Long-Term Expected 

Real Rate of Return 

Global Equity 60.0% 5.25% 

Global Fixed Income 20.0% 1.25% 

Private Investments 20.0% 7.25% 

The sum of each target allocation times its long-term expected real rate, plus inflation, is 7.35%. 

Discount Rate   

The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability was 7.35%. The projection of cash flows used to 

determine the discount rate assumed that the Township will contribute at least $100,000 to the trust annually 

and continue to pay benefits from general operating funds until the plan is fully funded.  Based on this 

assumption, the retirement plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be sufficient to make projected 

future benefit payments of current plan members.  For projected benefits that are covered by projected assets, 

the long-term expected rate was used to discount the projected benefits.  From the year that benefit payments 

were not projected to be covered by the projected assets (the “depletion date”; not applicable for this plan), 

projected benefits were discounted at a discount rate reflecting a 20-year AA/Aa tax-exempt municipal bond 

yield.  A single equivalent discount rate that yields the same present value of benefits is calculated.  This 

discount rate is used to determine the Total OPEB Liability.  As of December 31, 2019 the discount rate used 

to value OPEB liabilities was 3.26%. 

  



5 

 

 

RECONCILIATION AND RECOGNITION OF NET OPEB LIABILITY  

Changes in the Net OPEB Liability 

 

Total OPEB 

Liability 

(a) 

Plan 

Fiduciary 

Net Position 

(b) 

Net OPEB 

Liability 

(a) - (b) 

    

Balance at December 31, 2019 $3,164,628 $0 $3,164,628 

    

Changes during the Year    

Service Cost 129,864  129,864 

Interest 105,834  105,834 

Experience (Gains)/Losses 377,798  377,798 

Change in plan terms 0  0 

Change in actuarial assumptions (1,147,885)  (1,147,885) 

Contributions to OPEB trust  109,539 (109,539) 

Contributions/benefit paid from general operating funds  96,113 (96,113) 

Employee Contributions  0 0 

Net Investment Income  1,197 (1,197) 

Benefit Payments;  

Including Refunds of Employee Contributions (96,113) (96,113) 0 

Administrative Expenses  (2) 2 

Other Changes  0 0 

Total Changes (630,502) 110,734 (741,236) 

    

Balance at December 31, 2020 $2,534,126 $110,734 $2,423,392 

 

Net OPEB Liability – Discount and Trend Rate Sensitivities 

The following presents the net OPEB liability (NOL) of the Township, calculated using trend and 
discount rates 1% higher and lower than base assumptions: 
 

Discount  1% Decrease  Current Rate  1% Increase 

Total OPEB Liability $2,769,184 $2,534,126 $2,326,266 
Plan Fiduciary Net Position 110,734 110,734 110,734 

Net OPEB Liability $2,658,450 $2,423,392 $2,215,532 

 
Trend  1% Decrease  Current Rate  1% Increase 

Total OPEB Liability $2,284,470 $2,534,126 $2,827,531 
Plan Fiduciary Net Position 110,734 110,734 110,734 

Net OPEB Liability $2,173,736 $2,423,392 $2,716,797 

  



6 

 

 

RECONCILIATION AND RECOGNITION OF NET OPEB LIABILITY  

OPEB Expense 

Below are the components of the Total OPEB Expense: 

  Fiscal Year Ending  

 12/31/2020 

Service Cost $129,864 

Interest on Total OPEB Liability 105,834 

Experience (Gains)/Losses 30,011 

Changes in Plan Terms 0 

Changes in Assumptions (118,631) 

Employee Contributions 0 

Projected Earnings on OPEB Plan Investments (2,013) 

Investment Earnings (Gains)/Losses 163 

Administrative Expenses 2 

Other Changes in Fiduciary Net Position 0 

Total OPEB Expense $145,230 

OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net Position 

The OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net Position as of December 31, 2020 is $110,734.  

 

Deferred Inflows and Outflows of Resources Related to OPEB Plan 

 Deferred Outflows 

Of Resources 

Deferred Inflows 

Of Resources 

Experience (Gains)/Losses  339,559 61,640 

Changes of Assumptions  0 1,050,404 

Investment Earnings (Gains)/Losses  653 0 

Total $340,212 $1,112,044 

 

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB will 

be recognized in OPEB expense as follows: 
 

Year Ended  

December 31, 

Amount  

Recognized 

2021 $(88,457) 

2022 (88,457) 

2023 (88,457) 

2024 (88,456) 

2025 (88,620) 

Thereafter (329,385) 

  



7 

 

 

RECONCILIATION AND RECOGNITION OF NET OPEB LIABILITY  

Reconciliation of Net OPEB Liability 

  Net OPEB Liability 

Net OPEB Liability December 31, 2019  $3,164,628 

Total OPEB expense   145,230 

Contributions  (205,652) 

Change in deferred outflows of resources  340,212 

Change in deferred inflows of resources   (1,021,026) 

Net OPEB Liability December 31, 2020  $2,423,392 

 

 

Total OPEB Liability by Participant Status 

  Total OPEB Liability 

Active participants   $1,950,054 

Inactive participants  0 

Retirees and beneficiaries  584,072 

Total OPEB Liability  $2,534,126 

 



8 

 

 

SCHEDULES OF REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION  

Description of Actuarially Determined Contributions 

Although not required as part of GASB reporting, we have included an Actuarially Determined Contribution in 
order to provide information for funding.  This recommended contribution is designed to eventually fund your 
plan enough that you can pay retiree benefits directly from the trust instead of general operating funds.  The 
amortization period is based on average future working years for active employees. 
 

Actuarially Determined Contribution (ADC) Fiscal Year Ending December 31, 
 2021 2020 
Discount rate  7.35%  3.26% 
Amortization period  14 years  13 years 
Amortization method Level % of pay Level % of pay 
Normal cost 87,697 129,864 
Amortization of Net OPEB Liability 236,279 277,049 
Interest to end of year 23,813 13,265 
Total ADC $347,789 $420,178 

PA 202 was issued by the State of Michigan and requires the calculation of other “contribution” amounts.  
These are 

1. The Actuarially Determined Contribution (ADC) using Assumptions for financial reporting and 
2. The minimum required amount to be deposited into an OPEB trust 

The first of these contributions as shown above, $420,178, is an amount required to be reported to the State 
of Michigan and may be used to determine whether a Corrective Action Plan (CAP) must be adopted if one 
hasn’t yet been implemented.  It is not a required contribution. 

The second of these numbers is the actual minimum amount the State of Michigan requires you to deposit into 
a trust and it is based on the normal cost (actuarially calculated) for those covered by your plan and hired after 
June 30, 2018.  The 2020 normal cost for these new hires is $24,154 and the 2021 expected normal cost is 
$23,386. 

In addition, you may not draw on the trust until employees hired after June 30, 2018 begin to retire if the 
only amount deposited is the minimal amount noted above.  Accordingly, you must continue to pay retiree 
OPEB benefits from general operating funds.  That amount ($96,113 for 2020) when added to what you 
deposit into the trust, generates a total minimum required amount of $120,267.



9 

 

SCHEDULES OF REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION  

State of Michigan Public Acts 530 and 202 Information  

Financial information 2020 

Assets (Fiduciary net position) 110,734 

Liabilities (Total OPEB Liability)  2,534,126 

Funded ratio for the Plan Year 4.37% 

Actuarially Determined Contribution  $420,178 

Is ADC calculated in compliance with No. Letter 2018-3? Yes 
  

Membership 2020 

Number of active members  57 

Number of inactive members  0 

Number of retirees and beneficiaries 18 

Premiums paid on behalf of the retirants $96,113 

  

Investment Performance  

This information is available from the Investment Manager  
  

Actuarial Assumptions 2020 

Actuarially assumed rate of investment return 7.35% 

Discount rate 7.35% 

Amortization method used for funding unfunded liability Level % of Pay 

Amortization period used for funding unfunded liability 13 years 

Is each division closed to new employees No 

Healthcare inflation assumption next year 8.25% 

Healthcare inflation assumption - long term 4.50% 
  

Uniform Assumptions 2020 

Actuarial value of assets using uniform assumptions  110,734 

Actuarial accrued liability using uniform assumptions  2,529,820 

Funded ratio using uniform assumptions 4.38% 

Actuarially Determined Contribution (ADC) using uniform assumptions $350,053 

  

Information for Summary Report (minimum required contribution)1 2020 

Retiree insurance premiums for the year (1) 96,113 

Normal cost for employees hired after June 30, 2018 (2)  24,154 

Minimum required contribution under PA 202 (1) + (2) $120,267 

 

 

                                                           
1 Senate Bill 686 requires that a local unit must contribute at least both of the following – Normal cost for employees first hired after June 30, 2018 and retiree 

premiums due to retirants in the retirement system; In order to obtain 40% funding, higher contributions may be needed. 



10 

 

SCHEDULES OF REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION  

Changes in Net OPEB Liability and Related Ratios 

Fiscal Year Ending 12/31/2020 12/31/2019 12/31/2018 

Total OPEB Liability    

Service Cost $129,864 $139,571 $135,506 

Interest 105,834 95,769 93,757 

Changes of Benefit Terms 0 0 0 

Difference between Expected and Actual Experience 377,798 (35,658) (46,967) 

Change of Assumptions (1,147,885) (23,598) 0 

Benefit Payments (Including Refunds of Employee Contributions) (96,113) (128,395) (110,177) 

Net Change in Total OPEB Liability (630,502) 47,689 72,119 

Total OPEB Liability – Beginning 3,164,628 3,116,939 3,044,820 

Total OPEB Liability – Ending (a) $2,534,126 $3,164,628 $3,116,939 

    

Plan Fiduciary Net Position    

Contributions to OPEB trust $109,539 $0 $0 

Contributions/benefit payments made from general operating funds 96,113 128,395 110,177 

Net Investment Income 1,197 0 0 

Benefit Payments (Including Refunds of Employee Contributions) (96,113) (128,395) (110,177) 

Administrative Expenses (2) 0 0 

Other 0 0 0 

Net Change in Fiduciary Net Position 110,734 0 0 

Plan Fiduciary Net Position – Beginning 0 0 0 

Plan Fiduciary Net Position – Ending (b) 110,734 0 0 

    

Net OPEB Liability – Ending (a)-(b) $2,423,392 $3,164,628 $3,116,939 

    

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage of Total OPEB Liability  4.37%  0.00%  0.00% 

Covered Employee Payroll $3,436,792 $3,231,324 $3,383,428 

Net OPEB Liability as Percentage of Payroll  70.5%  97.9%  92.1% 

    

Actuarially Determined Contribution $420,178 $403,436 $378,551 

Employer Contribution/benefit payments (205,652) (128,395) (110,177) 

Contribution Deficiency/(Excess) $214,526 $275,041 $268,374 

ADC as a Percentage of Covered Payroll  12.2%  12.5%  11.2% 

Employer Contribution as a Percentage of Covered Payroll  6.0%  4.0%  3.3% 



11 

 

SCHEDULES OF REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION  

Assumptions and Methods for Calculation of Actuarially Determined Contribution 

Valuation date  December 31, 2020 

Measurement date December 31, 2020 

Reporting date December 31, 2020 

Actuarial Methods 

 Cost method Entry Age Normal (level percentage of compensation) 

 Asset valuation method Market value 

Actuarial Assumptions 

 Discount Rate – 3.26% for 2020 contribution; 7.35% for 12/31/2020 liability and 2021 contribution 
 Rationale – Blended rate based on long term expected return and the 20-year Aa Municipal Bond rate 

 20-year Aa Municipal Bond Rate – 1.93% 
 Rationale – Bond rate (based on information published by S&P as of December 31, 2020) 

 Salary Scale – 2.0% 
 Rationale – Per employer experience and expectations 

 Return on Plan Assets – 7.35% 
 Rationale – Per investment manager 

 Mortality Rates 
 Police and Fire:  Public Safety 2010 Employee and Healthy Retiree, headcount-weighted, 2020 

improvement 
 Spouses and General employees:  Public General 2010 Employee and Healthy Retiree, headcount-

weighted, 2020 improvement 
 Rationale – Most current mortality rates available for municipalities 

 Utilization – 70% of active, eligible employees will elect the lower cost plan with dental, 20% the higher cost 
plan with dental and 10% dental only; Actual coverage used for non-active 

 Rationale – Based on current retiree election and not inconsistent with active coverage 

 Non-retirement termination Rates – Crocker-Sarason-Straight T-3: 

Age Sample rates 

20 0.0658 

25 0.0527 

30 0.0483 

35 0.0447 

40 0.0384 

45 0.0321 

50 0.0152 

 Rationale – Low turnover table common to municipal employers 

 Disability Rates – None 
 Rationale – Small group 

 Marital Assumption – 75% of active employees will have covered spouse at retirement with females 3 years 
younger than males; Actual spouse data used for retirees 

 Rationale – Consistent with experience  



12 

 

SCHEDULES OF REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION  

 Retirement Rates 

Age Rates 

53-55 0.06 

56-57 0.00 

58-59 0.20 

60 0.60 

61 0.00 

62 0.33 

63-65 0.00 

66 1.00 

 Rationale – Based on both plan experience and eligibility under the plan 

 Annual claims Costs 

Low cost plan 

 
Male 

Participant 

Female 

Participant 

Male 

Spouse 

Female 

Spouse 

50 6,394 7,583 8,952 10,616 

55 8,313 8,766 11,639 12,273 

60 10,668 10,431 14,935 14,604 

Medicare eligible 4,685 4,685 4,685 4,685 

 

High cost plan 

 
Male 

Participant 

Female 

Participant 

Male 

Spouse 

Female 

Spouse 

50 8,608 10,207 12,050 14,290 

55 11,191 11,800 15,667 16,520 

60 14,360 14,042 20,104 19,658 

Medicare eligible 4,685 4,685 4,685 4,685 

 Health plan monthly premiums 

   Low cost plan High cost plan 

 Single 2-person Single 2-person 

Pre-65 469.32 1,126.38 631.77 1,516.24 

Medicare eligible 390.43 780.86 390.43 780.86 

Dental 31.14 62.28 31.14 62.28 

 Implicit Subsidy – age-weighted costs valued 

 Reimbursement of pre-65 deductible – $1,000 each for the retiree and spouse 
 Rationale – Based on 2020 experience 

 Medical Trend – Pre-Medicare 8.25% graded down to 4.5% by 0.25% per year; Post-Medicare, 6.5% graded 
down to 4.5% by 0.25% per year 

 Dental Trend – 3.0% per annum 
 Rationale – Based on State of Michigan trend survey 

  



13 

 

SCHEDULES OF REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION  

 Data Collection 
 Date and form of data – All personnel and asset data was prepared by the plan sponsor or a representative 

and was generally relied upon as being correct and complete without audit by Watkins Ross 
 

 Assumption changes since prior valuation 

• Reimbursement of deductible valued 

• Mortality updated 

• Medical trend updated 

• Salary scale updated from 1.0% to 2.0% 

• Marital assumption updated from 67% to 75% 

• Medical plan utilization changed from 45% for the low plan and 45% for the high plan to 70% for the 
low plan and 20% for the high plan 

• Discount rate updated from 3.26% to 7.35% 

Assumptions used for PA 202 Reporting 

Discount rate – 7.0% 

Mortality improvement scale – MP-2018 

Salary Scale – 3.5% 

 

All other assumptions are the same as used for GASB 

 

 



14 

 

SCHEDULES OF REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

Schedule of Difference between Actual and Expected Experience   

 

Schedule of Changes in Assumptions  

 

Schedule of Differences between Projected and Actual Earnings on OPEB Plan Investments  

 

Total Deferred Outflow/(Inflow) of Resources  

 
 

Difference

between expected Recognition Deferred Deferred

and actual period Outflow of Inflow of

Year Experience (years) 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026+ Resources Resources

2018 (46,967)                       10.37 (4,529)             (4,529)           (4,529)           (4,529)           (4,529)           (4,529)           (10,735)           -                     (33,380)           

2019 (35,658)                       9.64 (3,699)             (3,699)           (3,699)           (3,699)           (3,699)           (3,699)           (9,765)             -                     (28,260)           

2020 377,798                      9.88 38,239            38,239          38,239          38,239          38,239          38,239          148,364          339,559        -                       

Net recognized in OPEB expense 30,011$          30,011$        30,011$        30,011$        30,011$        30,011$        127,864$       339,559$      (61,640)$        

Amount Recognized in Year Ended December 31,

Recognition Deferred Deferred

Changes in period Outflow of Inflow of

Year Assumptions (years) 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026+ Resources Resources

2018 -                                   10.37 -                       -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                       -                     -                       

2019 (23,598)                       9.64 (2,448)             (2,448)           (2,448)           (2,448)           (2,448)           (2,448)           (6,462)             -                     (18,702)           

2020 (1,147,885)                  9.88 (116,183)        (116,183)       (116,183)       (116,183)       (116,183)       (116,183)      (450,787)        -                     (1,031,702)     

Net recognized in OPEB expense (118,631)$      (118,631)$    (118,631)$    (118,631)$    (118,631)$    (118,631)$    (457,249)$      -$                   (1,050,404)$   

Amount Recognized in Year Ended December 31,

Difference

between expected Recognition Deferred Deferred

and actual earnings period Outflow of Inflow of

Year on OPEB assets (years) 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026+ Resources Resources

2018 -                                   5.00 -                       -                     -                     -                     -                       

2019 -                                   5.00 -                       -                     -                     -                     -                     -                       

2020 816                              5.00 163                 163                163                163                164                653                -                       

Net recognized in OPEB expense 163$               163$             163$             163$             164$             653$             -$                    

Amount Recognized in Year Ended December 31,

    

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026+   

Total Deferred Outflow/(Inflow) of Resources (88,457)         (88,457)         (88,457)         (88,456)         (88,620)         (329,385)          

Amount Recognized in Year Ended December 31,



15 

 

 

SUMMARY OF PLAN PROVISIONS 

Plan name – Kalamazoo Township Other Post-Employment Benefit (OPEB) Plan 
 
Eligibility Requirements 

 Township elected officials and employees 

  Elected officials – 8 years of continuous service 

  Employees – Age 55 with 10 years of service 

 Police – Age 53 with 25 years of service 

 

Summary of Benefits – Reimbursement of 80% of the pre-65 deductible and Medical, dental and prescription 

coverage for the following period 

 Township elected officials and employees 

  Retiree – Three months (3.0) of health insurance coverage for each complete year of full-time 

Township service (either as an employee or elected official) up to a maximum of sixty (60) months of 

coverage 

  Dependent – Three months (3.0) of health insurance coverage for each complete year of full-time 

Township service (completed by either an employee or elected official) up to a maximum of sixty (60) 

months of coverage 

 Police 

  Pre-65 – Medical, Rx and dental coverage for the retiree and spouse until the retiree is eligible for 
Medicare 

  Post-65 – As long as a retiree qualifies for continued coverage based on the service formula below, the 
employer pays for the supplemental premium, co-insurance and deductible for the retiree and 
dependent 

   Service formula: 

   Retiree – Four and one-quarter (4.25) months of coverage for each year of continuous Township 
service beginning at the retirement date 

  Dependent – Three (3) months of coverage for each year of continuous Township service beginning 
at the retirement date 

 

Retiree contribution – Twenty percent (20%) of retiree health care premium 

 

Changes since prior valuation – Police benefits and pre-65 deductible reimbursement clarified  

  



16 

 

 

GLOSSARY 

A number of special terms and concepts are used in connection with OPEB plans and the OPEB accounting 
report.  The following list reviews a number of these terms and provides a brief discussion of their meaning. 
 

Actuarially Determined Contribution (ADC) – A target or recommended contribution for the reporting period, 

determined in conformity with Actuarial Standards of Practice based on the most recent measurement 

available when the contribution for the reporting period was adopted.  

 

Actuarial Cost Method – This is a mathematical formula which is used to allocate the present value of projected 

benefits to past and future plan years. 

 

Amortization – The difference between actual and expected investment returns, the difference between 

actual and expected experience, and the impact of any plan or assumption changes will be amortized and paid 

over future years. 

 

Depletion Date (Cross-over Point) – The projected date (if any) where plan assets, including future 
contributions, are no longer sufficient to pay Projected Benefit Payments to current members. 
 
Long-term expected rate of return – The rate of return based on the nature and mix of current and expected 
plan investments and over the time period from when an employee is hired to when all benefits to the 
employee have been paid.  
 
Market Value of Assets – The market value of all assets in the fund including any accrued contribution for the 
previous plan year, which was not paid by the end of the year. 
 
Measurement Date – The date the Total OPEB Liability, Fiduciary Net Position, and Net OPEB Liability are 
determined. 
 
Net OPEB Liability (NOL) – The Total OPEB Liability less the Plan Fiduciary Net Position. 
 
Normal Cost – For GASB 74/75 purposes, normal cost is the equivalent of service cost (see definition of service 
cost). 
 
Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) – Benefits (such as death benefits, life insurance, disability, and long-

term care) that are paid in the period after employment and that are provided separately from a pension plan, 

as well as healthcare benefits paid in the period after employment, regardless of the manner in which they are 

provided. OPEB does not include termination benefits or termination payments for sick leave. 

OPEB Expense (OE) – The change in the Net OPEB Liability (NOL) recognized in the current measurement 
period.  Changes to the NOL not fully recognized in a given year’s OPEB expense will be maintained as deferred 
inflows and deferred outflows.  These will be recognized incrementally in the OPEB expense over time. 

  



17 

 

 

GLOSSARY  

Plan assets – Stocks, bonds and other investments that have been segregated and restricted (usually in a trust) 
to provide for post-retirement benefits. Assets not segregated in a trust, or otherwise effectively restricted so 
that they cannot be used by the employer for other purposes, are not plan assets, even though it may be 
intended that those assets be used to provide post-retirement benefits. 
 
Plan Fiduciary Net Position – The market value of plan assets as of the measurement date. 
 
Present Value – The present value of a future payment or a series of payments is the amount of each payment, 

discounted to recognize the time value of money, and further reduced for the probability that the payment 

might not be made because of death, disability or termination of employment. 

 

Projected Benefit Payments – All benefits projected to be payable to current active and inactive participants 
as a result of their past service and their expected future service. 
 

Real Rate of Return – The rate of return on an investment after the adjustment to eliminate inflation.  
 
Reporting Date – The date that represents the fiscal year end for the plan or employer.  
 
Service Cost – The value of portion of Total OPEB Liability earned during the current year computed in 
accordance with GAAP accounting rules. 
 
Single Equivalent Discount Rate – The single rate that gives the same total present value as discounting the 
Projected Benefit Payments with the long-term expected rate of return until the Depletion Date and 
discounting any remaining Projected Benefit Payments with the yield on a 20-year AA/Aa tax-exempt municipal 
bond index. 
 
Total OPEB Liability (TOL) – The actuarial present value of the accrued benefit determined under the Entry Age 
actuarial cost method calculated using the blended Single Equivalent Discount Rate. 
 
Valuation Date – The date as of which an actuarial valuation is performed.   
 
 

 
 



jaleng
Typewritten text
  04262021 9A



















 

 

  
KALAMAZOO CHARTER TOWNSHIP 

 
 KALAMAZOO COUNTY, MICHIGAN 
 
 ORDINANCE NO. 628 
 

ADOPTED:  _______________, 2021 
 

EFFECTIVE:  _______, 2021 
  
 
 AMENDMENT TO KALAMAZOO CHARTER TOWNSHIP ZONING ORDINANCE AND MAP 

 
An Ordinance to rezone the property commonly unaddressed property identified as Tax Parcel 

No. 3906-09-210-032 within the Township from the existing R-2 Medium Density Residential District 
Zoning Classification to the C-1 Local Commercial District Zoning; to amend the zoning map to reflect this 
rezoning; to provide an effective date; and to repeal all ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict 
herewith.  

 
 
 THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF KALAMAZOO 
 
 KALAMAZOO COUNTY, MICHIGAN 
 
 ORDAINS: 
 
 SECTION I 
 REZONING OF LAND AND MAP AMENDMENT 
 
A certain parcel of unaddressed property in the Township which is identified as Parcel No. 3906-09-210-
032 and is legally described as:  
 

“COM AT CL WOODWARD AVE 198 FT S OF N LI SEC 9 TH E 230 FT 
TO POB TH CONT E 100 FT PAR WITH N LI SD SEC S 66 FT PAR WITH 
WOODWARD AVE TH W 100 FT PAR WITH N LI SD SEC TH N PAR 
WITH WOODWARD AVE TO POB”     
 

is hereby rezoned from the existing R-2 Residential District Zoning Classification to the C-1 Local 
Commercial District Zoning Classification. The Township zoning map is hereby amended to reflect the 
rezoning.   
 

SECTION II 
 EFFECTIVE DATE AND REPEAL 
 
This ordinance shall take effect eight days following proper publication of notice of its adoption 



 

 

in accordance with and subject to Michigan Public Act 110 of 2006.  All parts of ordinances in conflict 
herewith are hereby repealed. 

 
 

KALAMAZOO CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
Mark E. Miller, Township Clerk 
1720 Riverview Drive 
Kalamazoo, MI  49004 
269-381-8080 
www.ktwp.org  

http://www.ktwp.org/


W
o
o
d
w
a
rd

A
v
e

2606

803

2518

2522
PROUTY, MARVIN E.

CARTER, JANET M.

NOWAK & MCNALLY JOINT VENTURE

PROUTY, ARTHUR A.

PROUTY, MARVIN EARL & PATRICIA

COUNTY OF KALAMAZOO

THE UPPER ROOM CHURCH OF GOD

Kalamazoo County GIS

Esri Community Maps Contributors, BuildingFootprintUSA, Esri Canada, Esri,

Address Points

Government Units

Parcels

4/2/2021, 10:43:37 AM
0 0.01 0.020.01 mi

0 0.02 0.040.01 km

1:1,128

Kalamazoo County
This map is for reference purposes only, and does not represent a survey or legal document. Data layers on this map are generated from individual local sources. The County makes no representation regarding the accuracy or reliability of the data contained herein.



jaleng
Typewritten text
04262021 9C








	04) 04262021 Agenda.pdf (p.1-2)
	6AA) 04-12-2021 WORK SESSION (002).pdf (p.3-4)
	6AB) 04-12-2021 BOARD MEETING (003).pdf (p.5-9)
	6AC) Apr262021bills.pdf (p.10-21)
	6RA) Bulk trash - household participation update.pdf).pdf (p.22-23)
	6RB) Fire Report.pdf (p.24-30)
	6RC) 911 Summary.pdf (p.31-32)
	7A) 2020 OPEB Valuation.pdf (p.33-53)
	9A) Taplin Agreement.pdf (p.54-61)
	9B1) AIR - adopt rezoning ordinance no.628.pdf (p.62)
	9B2) REzoning parking lot.pdf (p.63-64)
	9B3) map.pdf (p.65)
	9C) Request for Purchase Self contained breathing.pdf (p.66-69)

